# CORPORATE RECORDS OF

# PROTECTION FROM ABUSE SECURITY SERVICES (FORMERLY: PROTECTION FROM ABUSE SECURITY SERVICES INC)

INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS

OF THE

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA

Dated: May 17, 2016

Effective: December 17, 2015

Marshal H. Davis, Esquire, MBA, LLM
DAVIS LAW

Marshal H. Davis - Attorney at Law, PC
P.O. Box 364
Jamison, PA 18929-0364
Tel: 267.482.9595 / 267.482.9596
MDavis@MHDesq.com
http://www.MHDesq.com

# BYLAWS OF

# PROTECTION FROM ABUSE SECURITY SERVICES

(a Pennsylvania Non-Profit Corporation)

#### ARTICLE I

# **PURPOSE**

- 1. The purposes of Protection From Abuse Security Services (the "Corporation" or "PFASS") are as follows:
- (a) To be organized for non-profit, charitable, and/or educational purposes, namely to provide needs-based Close Protection (CP) and other security services to victims of domestic violence, intimate partner violence, stalking, sexual violence, child abuse, human trafficking, exploitation, and other threats, to promote the like, all within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) (or corresponding Section of any future Federal Tax Code) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor law, and rules and regulations issued by the IRS pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code or any successor law (the "Code").
- (b) To do any and all other acts and things and to exercise any and all powers which are made now or hereafter be lawful for the Corporation to do or exercise under and pursuant to the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and for the purpose of accomplishing any other purposes of the Corporation.
- 2. No part of the net earnings of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributed to its Directors, Officers or other private persons, except that the Corporation shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of Section 501(c)(3) purposes. No substantial part of the activities of the Corporation shall be for carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the Corporation shall not participate in or intervene in (including publishing or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office.
- 3. Notwithstanding any other provisions of these articles, the Corporation shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on (a) by a Corporation exempt from Federal Income Tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code (or corresponding Section of any future Federal Tax Code) or (b) by a Corporation, contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of the Code (or corresponding Section of any future Federal Tax Code).
- 4. In the event of dissolution of the Corporation, no Director or Officer shall be entitled to any distribution or division of its remaining property or proceeds, and the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making provision for the payment of all liabilities of the Corporation, dispose of all of the assets for one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or shall be distributed to the Federal government, or to a state or local government for a public purpose.

1619138.1 Page **2** of **15** 

#### **ARTICLE II**

# **OFFICES**

- 1. The registered office of the Corporation shall be at 2401 Pennsylvania Avenue, Suite 1A10, Philadelphia, PA 19130, Philadelphia County. The Board of Directors may elect to change the registered office and file the appropriate forms with the Pennsylvania Department of State to do so.
- 2. The Corporation may also have offices at such other places as the Board of Directors may from time to time appoint or the activities of the Corporation may require.

# **ARTICLE III**

#### SEAL

1. The corporate seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Corporation, the year of its organization and the words "Corporate Seal, Pennsylvania".

# ARTICLE IV

#### MEMBERS

- 1. The Corporation shall have no members, as defined by the Pennsylvania Nonprofit Corporation Law of 1988, as amended (the "Act").
- 2. Honorary Titles. The Board of Directors may create such classes of "membership," such as PFASS members, team members, individual members, regular members, associate members, contributing members, dues-paying members, or other classes or titles as it deems appropriate (the "Honorary Members"), with such obligations, rights and privileges as the Directors determine in their discretion, but such Honorary Members shall not have the rights of members as provided in the Act.
- 3. The Honorary Members of PFASS shall have no voting power except as expressly provided in these By-Laws or as the Directors may determine from time to time in their discretion.
- 4. The Board of Directors and the Officers will not be responsible for any action or inaction, lawful or unlawful, taken by any Honorary Member of the organization.

1619138.1 Page **3** of **15** 

# **ARTICLE V**

# **DIRECTORS**

- 1. The business and affairs of this Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors, from 2 up to 7 in number, who shall be natural persons of full age and who need not be residents of this Commonwealth. They shall be elected by a majority of those Directors present at the annual meeting or a special meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, and each Director shall be elected for a one (1) year term and until his/her successor shall be elected and shall qualify.
- 2. In addition to the powers and authorities by these By-Laws expressly conferred upon them, the Board of Directors may exercise all such powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by statute or by the Articles or by these By-Laws directed or required to be exercised or done. The Board of Directors may elect to hire outside accountants, attorneys, book keepers, or public relations professionals.
- 3. The regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such times and at such place or places within this Commonwealth or elsewhere, as a majority of the Directors may from time to time appoint, or as may be designated in the notice calling the meeting.
- 4. Written or personal notice of every special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given to each Director at least five days (5) prior to the day named for the meeting. For purposes of such notice, email or fax shall constitute written notice.
- 5. A majority of the Directors in office shall be necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the acts of a majority of the Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the acts of the Board of Directors. Any action which may be taken at a meeting of the Directors may be taken without a meeting, if a consent or consents in writing setting forth the action so taken shall be signed by all of the Directors in office and shall be filed with the Secretary of the Corporation.
- (a) In the event of a tie, the President of the Corporation shall cast his/her vote as the tiebreaker at meetings of the Board of Directors.
- (b) Directors and the President may fully participate and vote in Board of Directors meetings via telephone or video conference, and may vote via email.
- (c) If any Directors or the President are unable to participate in a Board of Directors meeting in person or via telephone or video conference, he/she may vote by proxy.
- 6. The Board of Directors may, by resolution adopted by a majority of the Directors in office, establish one or more committees to consist of one or more Directors of the Corporation. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of Directors or in the By-Laws, shall have and may exercise all of the powers and authority of the

1619138.1 Page **4** of **15** 

Board of Directors, except that no such committee shall have any power or authority as to the following:

- (a) The filling of vacancies in the Board of Directors;
- (b) The adoption, amendment or repeal of the By-Laws;
- (c) The amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board of Directors; or
- (d) Action on matters committed by the By-Laws or resolution of the Board of Directors to another committee of the Board of Directors.
- 7. The Board of Directors may designate one or more Directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not he, she, or they constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another Director to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member. Each committee of the Board of Directors shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.
- 8. Except where otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the entire Board of Directors or any individual Director, may be removed from office without assigning any cause by the majority vote of the Board of Directors members which all members present would be entitled to cast at any annual or other regular election of the Directors. In the event that the Board of Directors or any one or more Directors are so removed or otherwise resign, new Directors may be elected at the same meeting. The Founder can only be removed from office as a Director or Officer by a unanimous vote of all then-current Directors at a duly called meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, at which all Directors are present and voting; however, in the event that Founder is found to have engaged in intentional and material fraud or intentional and material wrongdoing, Founder can be removed from office as a Director or Officer by a vote of at least three quarters of all then-current Directors at a duly called meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, at which a quorum of at least eighty percent of all then-current Directors are present and voting.
- 9. The Board of Directors may declare vacant the office of a Director if he/she is declared of unsound mind by an order of court or is convicted of felony, or if within sixty (60) days after notice of his/her selection, he/she does not accept such office either in writing or by attending a meeting of the Board of Directors, and fulfill such other requirements of qualification as the By-Laws may specify.
- 10. A Director of the Corporation shall stand in a fiduciary relation to the Corporation and shall perform his/her duties as a Director, including his/her duties as a member of any committee of the Board of Directors upon which he/she may serve, in good faith, in a manner he/she reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the Corporation, and with such care, including reasonable inquiry, skill and diligence, as a person of ordinary prudence would use under similar circumstances. In performing his/her duties, a Director shall be entitled to rely in

1619138.1 Page **5** of **15** 

good faith on information, opinions, reports or statements, including financial statements and other financial data, in each case prepared by any of the following:

- (a) One or more Officers or employees of the Corporation whom the Director reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented.
- (b) Counsel, public accountants or other persons as to matters which the Director reasonably believes to be within the professional or expert competence of such person.
- (c) A committee of the Board of Directors upon which he/she does not serve, duly designated in accordance with law, as to matters within its designated authority, which the Director reasonably believes to merit confidence.
- 11. A Director shall not be considered to be acting in good faith if he/she has knowledge concerning the matter in question that would cause his/her reliance to be unwarranted.
- 12. In discharging the duties of their respective positions, the Board of Directors, committees of the Board of Directors and individual Directors may, in considering the best interests of the Corporation, consider the effects of any action upon employees, upon suppliers and customers of the Corporation and upon communities in which offices or other establishments of the Corporation are located, and all other pertinent factors. The consideration of those factors shall not constitute a violation of this section. The Board of Directors or Officers may retain legal counsel, accountants, or book keepers who are related to or the same as the Directors themselves or Officers of the Corporation.
- 13. Absent breach of fiduciary duty, lack of good faith or self-dealing, actions taken as a Director or any failure to take any action shall be presumed to be in the best interests of the Corporation.
- 14. A Director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable for monetary damages as such for any action taken, or any failure to take any action, unless:
- (a) The Director has breached or failed to perform the duties of his/her office under this section; and
- (b) The breach or failure to perform constitutes self-dealing, willful misconduct or recklessness.

The provisions of this section shall not apply to:

- (a) The responsibility or liability of a Director pursuant to any criminal statute; or
- (b) The liability of a Director for the payment of taxes pursuant to local, State or Federal law.

1619138.1 Page **6** of **15** 

- 15. Directors as such, shall not receive any stated salary for their services as a Director, but by resolution of the Board of Directors, a fixed sum and expenses of attendance, if any, may be allowed for attendance at each regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors PROVIDED, that nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any Director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.
  - 16. Steven J. Dana is recognized as the Founder of the Corporation.

# **ARTICLE VI**

# **OFFICERS**

- 1. The Executive Officers of the Corporation shall be chosen by resolution of the Board of Directors, and shall be a President, Vice President (optional determined by Board of Directors), Treasurer, Secretary, and such other Officers and assistant Officers as the needs of the Corporation may require. The Officers shall be natural persons of full age. The President may be a Director and shall hold his/her office for a term of one year and shall have such authority and shall perform such duties as are provided by the By-Laws and as shall from time to time be prescribed by the Board of Directors. The President and other officers may be paid a reasonable salary for his/her services provided as officer, including but not limited to a reasonable per diem rate, honorarium, or salary for their duties throughout the year or at particular events. All Officers may also be Directors and shall hold their offices for a term of one year and shall have such authority and shall perform such duties as are provided by the By-Laws and as shall from time to time be prescribed by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may secure the fidelity of any or all such Officers by bond, insurance, or otherwise.
- 2. Any Officer or agent may be removed by the majority of the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Corporation will be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights of any person so removed.
- 3. The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Corporation; he/she shall act as the Chairperson of the Board and shall preside at all meetings of the Directors; he/she shall have general and active management of the affairs of the Corporation; shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried into effect, subject, however, to the right of the Directors to delegate any specific powers, except such as may be by statute exclusively conferred on the President, to any other Officer or Officers of the Corporation. He/she shall execute bonds, mortgages and other documents requiring a seal, under the seal of the Corporation. He/she shall be EX-OFFICIO member of all committees and shall have the general powers and duties of supervision and management usually vested in the office of President.
- 4. The Vice President shall perform such duties and have such authority as from time to time may be prescribed by the Directors or the President. In the absence of the President, the Vice President, as designated by the Board of Directors, shall perform the duties designated to the President.

1619138.1 Page **7** of **15** 

- 5. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and act as clerk thereof, and record all the votes of the Corporation and the minutes of all its transactions in a book to be kept for that purpose; and shall perform like duties for all committees of the Board of Directors when required. He/she shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or President, under whose supervision he/she shall be. He/she shall keep in safe custody the corporate seal of the Corporation, and when authorized by the Board of Directors, affix the same to any instrument requiring it.
- 6. The Treasurer shall have custody of the corporate funds and securities and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation, and shall keep the monies of the Corporation in a separate account to the credit of the Corporation. He/she shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the President and Directors, at the regular meetings of the Board of Directors, or whenever they may require it, an account of all his/her transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation.

#### **ARTICLE VII**

#### **VACANCIES**

- 1. If the office of any Officer or agent, one or more, becomes vacant for any reason, the Board of Directors may choose a successor or successors, who shall hold office for the unexpired term in respect of which such vacancy occurred.
- 2. Vacancies in the Board of Directors, including vacancies resulting from an increase in the number of Directors, shall be filled by a majority of the remaining members of the Board of Directors, though less than a quorum, and each person so elected shall be a Director until his/her successor is elected by the Directors, who may make such election at the next annual meeting, or at any special meeting duly called for that purpose and held prior thereto.

# ARTICLE VIII

# **BOOKS AND RECORDS**

1. The Corporation shall keep an original or duplicate record of the proceedings of the Board of Directors, the original or a copy of its By-Laws, including all amendments thereto to date, certified by the Secretary (or President) of the Corporation, and an original or a duplicate Board of Directors register, giving the names of the Board of Directors members, and showing their respective addresses. The Corporation shall also keep appropriate, complete and accurate books or records of account. The records provided for herein shall be kept at either the registered office of the Corporation in this Commonwealth, or at its principal place of business wherever situated, or with the Corporation's attorney.

1619138.1 Page **8** of **15** 

2. Every Board of Directors member shall, upon written demand under oath stating the purpose thereof, have a right to examine, in person or by agent or attorney, during the usual hours for business for any proper purpose, the books and records of account, and records of the proceedings of the Board of Directors and committees, and to make copies or extracts therefrom. A proper purpose shall mean a purpose reasonably related to the interest of such person as a Board of Directors member. In every instance where an attorney or other agent shall be the person who seeks the right to inspection, the demand under oath shall be accompanied by a power of attorney or such other writing which authorizes the attorney or other agent to so act on behalf of the Board of Directors member. The demand under oath shall be directed to the Corporation at its registered office in this Commonwealth or at its principal place of business wherever situated.

#### **ARTICLE IX**

#### TRANSACTION OF BUSINESS

- 1. The Corporation shall make no purchase of real property nor sell, mortgage, lease away or otherwise dispose of its real property, unless authorized by a vote of two-thirds of the members in office of the Board of Directors. If the real property is subject to a trust, the conveyance away shall be free of trust and the trust shall be impinged upon the proceeds of such conveyance.
- 2. The Board of Directors may approve an annual budget and the retention of and/or disbursement of annual net proceeds to as many as three (3) beneficiary organizations.
- 3. Whenever the lawful activities of the Corporation involve among other things the charging of fees or prices for its services or products, it shall receive and distribute such monies solely in compliance with the requirements of tax-exempt entities formed under section 501(c)(3) of the Code. All incidental profits shall be applied to the maintenance and operation of the lawful activities of the Corporation, as permitted by section 501(c)(3) of the Code, and in no case shall be divided or distributed in any manner whatsoever among the members of the Board Directors or Officers of the Corporation (except that Officers may be compensated as described above in Article VI).
- 4. All checks or demands for money and notes of the Corporation shall be signed by the Treasurer or such Officer as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.

# ARTICLE X

# **ANNUAL REPORT**

1. The Board of Directors shall present annually a report, verified by the President and Treasurer, showing in appropriate detail the following:

1619138.1 Page **9** of **15** 

- (a) The assets and liabilities, including the trust funds, of the Corporation as of the end of the fiscal year immediately preceding the date of the report;
- (b) The principal changes in assets and liabilities including trust funds, during the year immediately preceding the date of the report;
- (c) The revenue or receipts of the Corporation, both unrestricted and restricted to particular purposes, for the year immediately preceding the date of the report, including separate data with respect to each trust fund held by or for the Corporation; and
- (d) The expenses or disbursements of the Corporation, for both general and restricted purposes, during the year immediately preceding the date of the report, including separate data with respect to each trust fund held by or for the Corporation.
- (e) That the report was filed within the minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors.
- 2. The Annual Report may be prepared by an accountant or firm hired by the Corporation.

# **ARTICLE XI**

#### NOTICES

- Whenever written notice is required to be given to any person, it may be given to such person, either personally or by sending a copy thereof by first class mail, postage prepaid, or by email, to his/her address appearing on the books of the Corporation, or, in the case of Directors, supplied by him or her to the Corporation for the purpose of notice. If the notice is sent by mail or by email, it shall be deemed to have been given to the person entitled thereto when deposited in the United States mail or with an email transmission to such person. A notice of meeting shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting and any other information required by statute or these By-Laws. When a special meeting is adjourned it shall not be necessary to give any notice of the adjourned meeting or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting, other than by announcement at the meeting at which such adjournment is taken.
- 2. Whenever any written notice is required to be given under the provisions of the statute or the Articles or By-Laws of this Corporation, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Except as otherwise required by statute, neither the business to be transacted at nor the purpose of a meeting need be specified in the waiver of notice of such meeting. In the case of a special meeting of the Board of Directors such waiver of notice shall specify the general nature of the business to be transacted. Attendance of a person at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting was not lawfully called or convened.

1619138.1 Page **10** of **15** 

#### ARTICLE XII

# **MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS**

- 1. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall begin on the first calendar day of January.
- 2. One or more persons may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation in a meeting pursuant to this section shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.
  - 3. The Corporation shall continue to be organized on a nonstock basis.

#### ARTICLE XIII

# **INDEMNIFICATION**

The Corporation shall indemnify each of its Directors, Officers, and employees whether or not then in service as such (and his/her executor, administrator and heirs), against all reasonable expenses actually and necessarily incurred by him or her in connection with the defense of any litigation to which the individual may have been a party because he/she is or was a Director, Officer or employee of the Corporation. The individual shall have no right to reimbursement, however, in relation to matters as to which he/she has been adjudged liable to the Corporation for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his/her duties, or was derelict in the performance of his/her duty as Director, Officer or employee by reason of willful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties of his/her office or employment. The right to indemnity for expenses shall also apply to the expenses of suits which are compromised or settled if the court having jurisdiction of the matter shall approve such settlement. The right of indemnification shall be in addition to, and not exclusive of, all other rights to that which such Director, Officer or employee may be entitled.

# **ARTICLE XIV**

#### AMENDMENTS

- 1. By-Laws may be adopted, amended or repealed by the vote of the Board of Directors entitled to cast at least a majority of the votes which all Board of Directors members present are entitled to cast thereon at any regular or special meeting duly convened after notice to the Board of Directors members of that purpose.
- 2. The Directors may, via Corporate resolution, ratify rules, regulations, policies and procedures, operating guidelines, and other rules (said rules are NOT By-Laws in the legal construct or definition of By-Laws) ("Rules").

1619138.1 Page **11** of **15** 

Said Rules are inferior to these By-Laws; that is, in the event of any conflict, the By-Laws prevail. Rules may be ratified to clarify, augment, or supplement these By-Laws – said Rules shall not conflict with or contradict these By-Laws.

#### **ARTICLE XV**

#### DISSOLUTION

- 1. Upon the dissolution of the Corporation, the Corporation's assets shall be distributed for one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, or corresponding section of any future tax code, or shall be distributed to another charitable organization or to a local government body for a public purpose. Transfer of assets will be done only after a vote of the Board of Directors at a duly called meeting.
  - 2. See also Article I, Paragraph 1(e).

#### **ARTICLE XVI**

#### **CONFLICTS OF INTEREST**

The purpose of this conflicts of interest policy is to protect this tax-exempt Corporation's interest when it is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private interest of an Officer or Director of the Corporation or might result in a possible excess benefit transaction. This policy is intended to supplement but not replace any applicable state and federal laws governing conflict of interest applicable to nonprofit and charitable organizations.

#### 2. Definitions.

- (a) Interested Person: Any Director, Officer, or member of a committee with Board of Directors delegated powers, who has a direct or indirect financial interest, as defined below, is an Interested Person.
- (b) Financial Interest: A person has a Financial Interest if the person has, directly or indirectly, through business, investment, or family:
- i. An ownership or investment interest in any entity with which the Corporation has a transaction or arrangement,
- ii. A compensation arrangement with the Corporation or with any entity or individual with which the Corporation has a transaction or arrangement, or
- iii. A potential ownership or investment interest in, or compensation arrangement with, any entity or individual with which the Corporation is negotiating a transaction or arrangement.

1619138.1 Page **12** of **15** 

iv. Compensation includes direct and indirect remuneration as well as gifts or favors that are not insubstantial. A Financial Interest is not necessarily a conflict of interest. Under Article XVI, Paragraph 1(b), a person who has a Financial Interest may have a conflict of interest only if the appropriate Board of Directors or committee decides that a conflict of interest exists.

#### Procedures.

- (a) Duty to Disclose. In connection with any actual or possible conflict of interest, an Interested Person must disclose the existence of the Financial Interest and be given the opportunity to disclose all material facts to the directors and members of committees of the Board of Directors that are delegated with powers to consider the proposed transaction or arrangement.
- (b) Determining Whether a Conflict of Interest Exists. After disclosure of the Financial Interest and all material facts, and after any discussion with the Interested Person, he/she shall leave the Board of Directors or committee meeting while the determination of a conflict of interest is discussed and voted upon. The remaining Directors or committee members shall decide if a conflict of interest exists.

# (c) Procedures for Addressing the Conflict of Interest

- i. An Interested Person may make a presentation at the Board of Directors or committee meeting, but after the presentation, he/she shall leave the meeting during the discussion of, and the vote on, the transaction or arrangement involving the possible conflict of interest.
- ii. The President or committee chairperson shall, if appropriate, appoint a non-Interested Person or committee to investigate alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement.
- shall determine whether the Corporation can obtain with reasonable efforts a more advantageous transaction or arrangement from a person or entity that would not give rise to a conflict of interest.
- iv. If a more advantageous transaction or arrangement is not reasonably possible under circumstances not producing a conflict of interest, the Board of Directors or committee shall determine by a majority vote of the disinterested directors whether the transaction or arrangement is in the Corporation's best interest, for its own benefit, and whether it is fair and reasonable. In conformity with the above determination, it shall make its decision as to whether to enter into the transaction or arrangement.

1619138.1 Page **13** of **15** 

# (d) Violations of the Conflicts of Interest Policy

i. If the Board of Directors or committee has reasonable cause to believe a member has failed to disclose actual or possible conflicts of interest, it shall inform the member of the basis for such belief and afford the member an opportunity to explain the alleged failure to disclose.

- ii. If, after hearing the member's response and after making further investigation as warranted by the circumstances, the Board of Directors or committee determines the member has failed to disclose an actual or possible conflict of interest, it shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action.
- (e) It is expressly disclosed and permitted that a law firm, accounting firm, or book keeping company owned and/or operated by a Director and/or Officer (or a relative of a Director and/or Officer) may be retained to provide legal, accounting, professional, or other services for the Corporation, provided that the fees are reasonable (at or below market rates).
- (f) It is expressly disclosed and permitted that the Directors and/or Officers of the Corporation will likely be coaches or athletes on teams participating in the Corporation's tournament(s). Further, said Directors and/or Officers may hire referees, officials, and other contractors for tournaments who they may have a coaching, professional, or financial relationship with, provided that the fees paid are reasonable (at or below market rates).
  - 4. Records of Proceedings.
- (a) The minutes of the Board of Directors and all committees with Board of Directors delegated powers shall contain:
- i. The names of the persons who disclosed or otherwise were found to have a financial interest in connection with an actual or possible conflict of interest, the nature of the financial interest, any action taken to determine whether a conflict of interest was present, and the Board of Directors's or committee's decision as to whether a conflict of interest in fact existed.
- ii. The names of the persons who were present for discussions and votes relating to the transaction or arrangement, the content of the discussion, including any alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement, and a record of any votes taken in connection with the proceedings.

# 5. Compensation.

(a) A voting member of the Board of Directors who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Corporation for services is precluded from voting on matters pertaining to that member's compensation.

1619138.1 Page **14** of **15** 

- (b) A voting member of any committee whose jurisdiction includes compensation matters and who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Corporation for services is precluded from voting on matters pertaining to that member's compensation.
- (c) No voting member of the Board of Directors or any committee whose jurisdiction includes compensation matters and who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Corporation, either individually or collectively, is prohibited from providing information to any committee regarding compensation.
- 6. Annual Statements. Each Director, principal Officer and member of a committee with Board of Directors delegated powers may annually sign a statement which affirms such person:
  - (a) Has received a copy of the conflicts of interest policy,
  - (b) Has read and understands the policy,
  - (c) Has agreed to comply with the policy, and
- (d) Understands the Corporation is charitable and in order to maintain its federal tax exemption it must engage primarily in activities which accomplish one or more of its tax-exempt purposes.
- 7. Periodic Reviews. To ensure the Corporation operates in a manner consistent with charitable purposes and does not engage in activities that could jeopardize its tax-exempt status, periodic reviews shall be conducted. The periodic reviews shall, at a minimum, include the following subjects:
- on competent survey information, and the result of arm's length bargaining.
- (b) Whether partnerships, joint ventures, and arrangements with management organizations conform to the Corporation's written policies, are properly recorded, reflect reasonable investment or payments for goods and services, further charitable purposes and do not result in inurement, impermissible private benefit or in an excess benefit transaction.
- 8. Use of Outside Experts. When conducting the periodic reviews as provided for in Article XVI, Paragraph 7, the Corporation may, but need not, use outside advisors. If outside experts are used, their use shall not relieve the Board of Directors of its responsibility for ensuring periodic reviews are conducted

1619138.1 Page **15** of **15**